
   PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL 
COMBINED STUDYSESSION/ 
    REGULAR VOTING MEETING 

   TUESDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2008  
   PRESCOTT, ARIZONA 
  
MINUTES OF THE COMBINED STUDY SESSION/REGULAR VOTING MEETING OF 
THE PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL held on TUESDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2008 in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS located at CITY HALL, 201 SOUTH CORTEZ STREET, 
Prescott, Arizona. 
 
   

  CALL TO ORDER 
 
 Mayor Wilson called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. 
 

 INTRODUCTIONS  
 

 INVOCATION:  Reverend Julia McKenna, Spiritual Architect 
    
 Reverend McKenna gave the invocation. 
 

  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   Councilman Roecker 
 
 Councilman Roecker led the Council and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance 
 

  ROLL CALL:    
 
  PRESENT       ABSENT: 
  

Mayor Wilson      None 
Councilman Bell    
Councilman Lamerson   
Councilwoman Lopas 
Councilman Luzius 
Councilman Roecker   
Councilwoman Suttles 

 
   SUMMARY OF CURRENT OR RECENT EVENTS  

    
 City Manager Norwood reported that a few weeks ago the Council had a 

presentation given to them from the Wildland group; today they got to see a new 
technique being used to remove brush, “prescribed browsing” using goats. He 
said that it has been very successful in Utah and other states, and has been 
used at the Nature Center in Prescott. 

 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 2 
 
I. PRESENTATIONS 
 

A. Presentation by Bronzesmith.   
 

Ed Riley of Bronzesmith presented a small copy of Bill the Elk as a gift to 
Nancy Burgess for her community service and everything she has done 
for the Elk’s Theater.  

 
  Ms. Burgess thanked them for the gift, and said that of all the projects she 

has done for the City of Prescott, getting Bill the Elk back and working with 
all the wonderful people who participated in that was her number one 
project. 

 
 B. Status of Stormwater Management Program activities. 
    
  Mr. Nietupski introduced Greg Toth, Drainage Engineer for the City of 

Prescott, who then gave a brief review of activities taking place in his area. 
He said that earlier in the year Mike Carroll, a student from NAU, asked 
him about doing a project through their Capstone program for their degree 
in Civil Engineering. He said that they discussed some potential projects 
and what they decided on was the first phase of a two-phase project. It will 
be started this semester and completed next semester. He said that a 
team of students is working on the project: Bob Schupan, Brian Kunk, 
Gordon Hastings and Mike Carroll. He said that Mr. Carroll is a resident of 
Prescott and after serving 24 years in the military, including participation in 
Desert Storm and Iraqi Freedom, he began his schooling in Civil 
Engineering. 

 
  Mr. Toth then gave a brief PowerPoint presentation on the proposed 

project which will include: 
 
  Looking at Miller Creek Floodplain Update and Lincoln Avenue Crossing 

Study  
  Project Purpose 
  Project Limits 
   Floodplain Study  
  Lincoln Avenue Crossing 
 
  Mr. Toth said that the City is proud to be selected, and they are happy to 

be partners with NAU. It provides benefit to the City with no cost. 
 
  Councilman Luzius thanked Mr. Toth for his presentation, and perhaps 

they could have looked at the Garden Street crossing. Councilwoman 
Suttles said that she was glad they selected Lincoln Street. 

 
 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 3 
 
  Mr. Toth said that because this program will be under the direction of the 

NAU Professor and the City staff, the product will have the value as if it 
was done by a hired firm. He said that it is not something that will be 
placed on a shelf, but rather made part of the Floodplain Management 
Program. 

    
  Mayor Wilson said that he would assume that the technology used on 

Lincoln would work elsewhere. Mr. Toth said that even thought every site 
is specific, they always try to upgrade an elevated crossing, and they will 
look at similar things. He added that they hope to continue this program 
with each semester. 

 
II. REGULAR AGENDA 

 
A. Public Hearing and consideration of liquor license application from David 

Wayne Bennett, applicant for Bennett’s Oil Co., for a Series 10, Beer & 
Wine Store, license for Classic Gas located at 1310 Iron Springs Road. 

    
 Ms. Burke reviewed the application, noting that the property had been 

posted and no comments had been received by the public, but the 
applicant was not present. Councilman Lamerson said that it was his 
understanding that their presence at the meeting was not a requirement. 
Ms. Burke said that was correct. 

    
 Councilwoman Suttles said that although it is not a requirement, she 

always thought that an applicant would appear to take questions. 
    
 COUNCILMAN LAMERSON MOVED TO CLOSE THE PUBLIC 

HEARING; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN BELL; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

   
 COUNCILMAN LAMERSON MOVED TO APPROVE THE LIQUOR 

LICENSE APPLICATION FROM DAVID WAYNE BENNETT, 
APPLICANT FOR BENNETT’S OIL CO., FOR A SERIES 10, BEER & 
WINE STORE, LICENSE FOR CLASSIC GAS LOCATED AT 1310 IRON 
SPRINGS ROAD; SECONDED BY COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS; 
PASSED 5-2 WITH COUNCILWOMAN SUTTLES AND COUNCILMAN 
LUZIUS CASTING THE DISSENTING VOTES. 

 
B. Discussion of structure for the May 2009 one-cent sales tax extension 

election. 
    
  Mr. Norwood said that earlier in the month staff met with several members 

of the Prescott Capital Needs Committee, including Tammy Linn, Jim 
Lawrence, Milbeth Mauer, David Maurer along with Michael Byrd to get 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 4 
 

some direction on the election issue. He said that it was not unanimous, 
but was very close that they continue going forward with a May 2009 
election, and split open space from streets.  

 
  He said that the committee members felt that there were still some 

opportunities in the next several years to bring forward initiatives on open 
space possibilities such as Glassford Hill and P Mountain. In addition, 
there was a strong understanding that the City has contractual obligations 
for street projects and they need to continue putting money into streets as 
much as possible, especially since HURF is not helping as much as in the 
past. The Committee’s recommendation was to have it effective 
immediately to extend the one-cent tax for streets out to 2040, extending 
it from the current 2015 and funds would continue to be allowed through 
2015 for open space, but after 2015, 100% would go to streets only. 

    
  Jim Lawrence, 345 High Chaparral Loop, said that he came to the 

meeting today to answer any questions the Council may have, but he 
does strongly recommend that the two issues should be separated. He 
said that his suggestion would be that if the Council agrees with the 
Committee to separate the issues, that there are several other issues that 
may be addressed before the Council makes the decision of putting it on 
the ballot, one of which would be whether the entire 1% would to go 
roads, or perhaps ¾% to roads and ¼% to open space. He said that the 
brochure distributed during the 2000 election had five pages of 
questions/answers and that would need to be updated. Also, an issue to 
be addressed is maintenance of the open space. Mr. Lawrence suggested 
that they have another meeting of the Committee to provide 
recommendations, and also whether transit should be included. 

    
  Milbeth Mauer, 1310 Kiwana Court, said that she did not recall any 

dissenters on the Committee. Mr. Norwood explained that Mr. Byrd was 
not 100% on whether they should be together; he said he had no opinion. 

 
  Ms. Mauer said that she was surprised that with as many factions 

represented that everyone agreed that it should be separated. She said 
that she would like them to consider another issue at this time, and that 
was whether to continue charging sales tax on food, groceries and 
rentals. She said that this would be a good time for the Council to take a 
leadership role and show some compassion. She said that the rationale in 
the past has been to use sales tax rather than property taxes so that 
visitors would help defray the cost of what they are trying to finance, but 
residents are the only ones that buy groceries. 

    
  Mayor Wilson asked Mr. Woodfill to address, at a later time, what it would 

do to remove the taxes on food and rentals. Mr. Woodfill said that it is 
substantial to the tax base, with food around $3 million and rentals around 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 5 
 

$4 million. He said that those are a substantial source of revenue to the 
City, and some of the more stable portions of sales tax. He said that it 
would be about a 30% impact to the overall budget. Mr. Norwood said that 
for the 1% streets it would be about $3.5 million impact. Mr. Woodfill 
added that the Model City Tax Code requires either taxable categories or 
not, so if it was removed it would be for the whole 2%. 

 
  Councilman Roecker asked how they would make up the different in 

another tax category. Mr. Woodfill said that there are only a few that the 
Council has any option on such as the exclusion for real property from 
construction, which is a small amount. He said that they would have to 
look at additional taxes. He added that statewide there are about 80 
program cities and 60 of them charge tax on food, so it is widely used 
across Arizona. 

    
  Councilwoman Suttles noted that it is not just residents that purchase food 

since they have many people in the outlying areas that come in to 
Prescott to shop. 

   
  Councilman Bell said that he had been told some good reasons for going 

forward in May with the election, and asked Mr. Norwood to review those 
for the public. Mr. Norwood noted that in September the City will have the 
Home Rule Initiative on the ballot, which is critical, and also in September, 
and possibly in November, there will be the Council election. He said that 
the City has some hefty contractual obligations needed later in the 
summer and by being able to have that extended would allow them to 
address those issues on a long-term financial plan versus a 6-7 year 
window. 

    
  Councilwoman Suttles asked Ms. Linn if the Committee had held any 

discussion on how to break out the 1% between streets and open space. 
Ms. Linn replied that they discussed that issue briefly but by the end of the 
discussion, they had talked of the 1% going to streets, and then the open 
space would come back to the electors at a later time. 

 
  Councilwoman Suttles asked if the Committee felt that open space could 

come back at any time. She said that the City has many that feel that 
quality of life is related to open space. Ms. Linn said that they all felt the 
$40.7 million that was in the publicity pamphlet in 2000 could be used for 
open space. 

   
  Mayor Wilson said that he has heard a general consensus of the 

Committee that they wanted to split open space from roads, but he did not 
hear a consensus on how to split it. He said that there was a consensus 
on the 25-year extension which is important, and they must include 
maintenance for open space in the extension. He said that they need to 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 6 
 

talk about transit and if they are, they need to have a funding source. 
They need flexibility to fund transit and not just roads. 

 
  Councilman Luzius agreed that there should be some consideration for 

transit as that is going to come. He said that the City is part of CYMPO 
(Central Yavapai Metropolitan Planning Organization) and they are 
mandated to have a transit system. He said that if they have transit it will 
alleviate the need for roads, although it will not eliminate them. 

 
  Additionally, Councilman Luzius said that he felt strongly that the tax 

should stay the way it is until 2015 and the open space fund would receive 
a total of $40.7 million. 

    
  Councilman Lamerson said that a few years ago they took one tax to the 

voters and asked them to spend money on roads; they took the same tax 
back and said they wanted to do something else—they still want roads, 
but want open space purchase as well. The voters came back and said 
sure, but up to $40.7 million and it was at the discretion of sitting councils 
to prioritize whether to fix roads or spend money on open space. He said 
that they have been sanctioned twice on this in court. Mr. Kidd said that 
was correct. 

 
  Councilman Lamerson said that now he was hearing they should dilute 

the fund a little more; instead of using it for roads, they should blend in 
something else to use the 1% for, mixing it with transit. He said that he 
has not heard anyone say they want to raise the sales tax, so they are 
diluting the tax for road improvements. He said that he has a problem with 
that train of thought. He said that he is hearing a bunch of earmarks and 
every time they purchase open space, it is more property that has to be 
maintained. He said that they are talking about going to the taxpayers in 
May of 2009 and they better be clear and direct on what they are going to 
ask for. 

    
  Mayor Wilson said that there are two issues regarding the original ballot 

language—legal and moral. He said that the legal issue has been decided 
in courts, but the moral issue is in response to the advertisement for open 
space. He said that he would disagree with backing off of the moral issue. 
He said that it is ludicrous to call it an earmark for the Council to say they 
are going to support transit. 

   
  Councilwoman Suttles said that she does not agree that they can tack 

transit onto an existing sales tax. She asked if they could put transit on an 
extension of a 1% sales tax for roads. Mr. Norwood said that it is probably 
more of a legal question. At this point, transit could be $200,000 a year or 
$2 million a year; it is an unknown.  

 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 7 
 
  Councilwoman Suttles asked how they could show funding for transit 

without revenue coming in. Mayor Wilson said that the federal money 
could be used for capital acquisition of equipment and not maintenance 
and operation. He said that it would have to match it, starting off low.  
Councilwoman Suttles said that they have not been able to match their 
streets; she does not want to lose the extension by adding one more item 
to it. 

   
  Councilwoman Lopas said that her understanding was that they do not 

need to figure out the ballot language today. Mr. Norwood said that was 
correct; they will call the election in January. Councilwoman Lopas said 
that the1% extension needs to get through; they do not know when transit 
will come on board, and they could come to the voters in the future for 
transit. 

    
  Councilman Lamerson said that they are charged with the health and 

safety of the community, but they keep diluting it by using monies 
designed for that and putting it into a fund where they hamstring the 
Council. He said that no one said they were not going to buy open space; 
they have that ability. 

    
  Councilman Roecker said that he agreed with Councilwomen Suttles and 

Lopas. If they do not keep the 1% clean, it will not pass. He said that the 
reason that CYMPO came up was because it was suggested that they are 
mandated to provide transit, and he asked Mr. McConnell if that was 
correct. Mr. McConnell said that it was a federal mandate that CYMPO be 
organized because it is an urbanized area according to federal law. Once 
they are set up there are certain responsibilities of them, dealing with 
intergovernmental transportation planning and information such as 
general plans, so state and federal government can be assured that the 
region is working together. That does not mean that the area has to 
provide public transit, but if they want to provide it through CYMPO then 
there is access to federal authority monies. He said that Chino Valley said 
that they would like to do it, but they do not have the resources at this 
time. It is purely elective on the part of each jurisdiction. 

 
  Mr. McConnell said that a study was done and the City of Prescott was 

asked to indicate a preference in a previous economy and then the 
CYMPO implementation plan was initiated and is nearly complete. He 
said that has identified different options for implementing and they are 
anticipating that in January the Executive Board will be sending out a 
questionnaire, the intent of which will be to get answers from the region on 
what they would like to do. 

    
  Mr. Lawrence said that the discussion that was just held has been very 

good and shows the difficulties they have experienced ever since it went 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 8 
 

in, in 2000, and why they suggested that they be separated. He said that 
with regard to maintenance, it should be and would be included on the 
open space initiative when it came into place. He said that they have a lot 
of questions to be answered before they do that.  

   
  Ms. Linn said that the voters and Council made decisions with a lot of 

variables that they could not answer. There are variables that are 
uncontrollable—growth, weather, taxable income, etc. so when the 
decisions were made in 2000 they did the best of their ability. It is silly to 
go back and do a backlash. They could not foresee the economy at that 
time. She said that it was her recollection that there was $16 to $17 million 
a year in the 1% sales tax, and during the Capital Needs Committee 
meetings, she believed there were between $160 and $180 million in road 
repairs, maintenance and management. She would like to know with their 
needs are going to be 2015.  

    
  Mayor Wilson said that right now their biggest problem is that they have 

the Side Road commitment coming up where they will be $23 million in 
the hole in 2010. Mr. Nietupski said that the overall program through 
2015, as projected in May, was about $150 million. The reality is that the 
projections are down, and they are now looking at about $106 million. 
Mayor Wilson said that there are other variables; they do not know where 
the price of oil is going, concrete, etc. He said that he would like to move 
forward with the discussions. 

 
  Ms. Linn said that they are all volunteers and she thought that treating 

them all with respect would be not only legal, but moral and ethical. She 
said that she has been a volunteer for forty years and will continue to 
volunteer, but she would ask that the Mayor treat them with as much 
respect as they are forced to treat them with. 

 
  Tom Slaback, 715 E. Goodwin Street, said that he was speaking as a 

longtime taxpayer. He said that originally what was being proposed 
started out as a 45-year (corrected to 40 years) measure, now it is 25 
years, and he would not vote for any measure that has that long of a date 
on it. The original measure was 15 years, and they are looking at an 
extension that is way past that. He does believe that roads should be a 
separate issue from open space, and he would be in favor of ¾% for 
roads and ¼% for open space. 

    
  Steve Blair, 1802 Northside, wished everyone a Merry Christmas and 

Happy New Year. He recommended a full 1% for roads and have it come 
back in September to ask for an extra ¼% to take on transit and 
maintenance of open space. He said that there is nothing wrong with 
raising a sales tax. He said that by keeping it at 1% they accomplish the 
road infrastructure, including obligations and maintenance. They can let 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 9 
 

the public decide whether they want to increase the sales tax by ¼% and 
out of that ¼% they could take 5% for open space maintenance, and the 
other 25% for transit. 

    
  Mayor Wilson said that he believed they had a consensus to go in May, 

and splitting the issues of open space and roads. The question remaining 
is the amount, so they need to convene the Committee again and expand 
it with representation from Council, to address the issue of whether they 
include anything other than the pure approach of streets. Coming out of 
that it leaves open space standing alone at some future date. He intends 
to attend the Yavapai Open Space Alliance meeting tomorrow and will 
bring that discussion back to Council. He said that he would leave the 
convening of the Committee meeting up to the City Manager, and asked 
for Council representation from both sides of the issue. It was agreed that 
Councilwoman Suttles and Councilman Luzius would represent the 
Council on the Committee. 

   
  Councillman Luzius said that he had brought up before that he had heard 

the County was cancelling their May election, and asked Mr. Norwood if 
he had contacted them. Ms. Burke said that she had not spoken with the 
County, but would assume that they would still provide an election to the 
City because they charge for their services.  

 
C. Approval of Amendment Three to Contract No. 07-235, Big Chino Water 

Ranch Hydrologic Physical Availability Demonstration, with Southwest 
Ground-water Consultants, Inc., in the amount of $19,484.78. 

   
 Mr. Holt said that this was additional work required to respond to 

additional questions of the Arizona Department of Water Resources.  
    
 Councilwoman Suttles said that there are two amendments noted—one at 

over $3,000.00 and the second at $19,000.00, so not only can ADWR 
dictate that the City do it, but also require more information that the City 
has to pay for. 

    
 COUNCILMAN ROECKER MOVED TO APPROVE AMENDMENT 

THREE TO CONTRACT NO. 07-235, BIG CHINO WATER RANCH 
HYDROLOGIC PHYSICAL AVAILABILITY DEMONSTRATION, WITH 
SOUTHWEST GROUND-WATER CONSULTANTS, INC., IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $19,484.78; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN BELL; 
PASSED 6-1 WITH COUNCILMAN LUZIUS CASTING THE 
DISSENTING VOTE. 

 
D. Adoption of Resolution No. 3925-0931 - A resolution granting final 

approval to the issuance of Education Facilities Revenue Bonds (Mingus 
Mountain Estate Residential Center, Inc., Project), Series 2008 by the 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 10 
 

Industrial Development Authority of the City of Prescott, in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed $5,000,000 to finance or refinance the 
renovation, improvement, expansion, construction, equipping and 
operation of Mingus Mountain Academy; and declaring an emergency.    

 
  Mr. Kidd said that the City had received a request from the Prescott 

Industrial Development Authority to approve bonds for the Mingus 
Mountain Estates and Rob Pecharich was present on behalf of the IDA. 

      
  Mr. Pecharich said that he was present to answer any questions, and to 

explain that the Prescott IDA was an entity formed to issue bonds for such 
projects, but statutes require that the local municipality also approve the 
bonds. He said that it is an application for not to exceed $5 million in 
bonds for improvements at Mingus Mountain Estates, which is a nonprofit 
that provides educational and behavior health services, particularly to 
youth of the community. 

 
  Mr. Pecharich said that the Prescott IDA held public hearings and 

received no comment from the public. He noted that there is no cost or 
liability to the City of Prescott. 

   
  Mayor Wilson asked Mr. Pecharich if the Prescott IDA had ever issued 

bonds for a project within the city limits of Prescott. Mr. Pecharich said 
that there have been, although he could not name them or the dollar 
amounts off-hand. He said that there is also a Yavapai County IDA that 
receives most applications, but they have issued more than their quota for 
this type of bond, so it came to the Prescott IDA. 

   
  COUNCILMAN LUZIUS MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 3925-

0931; SECONDED BY COUNCILWOMAN SUTTTLES; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
E. Approval of Real Estate Purchase Agreement with Granite Haven, LLC, 

for 5.62 acres of real property in the Granite Dells, for open space 
purposes, in the amount of $865,000.00. 

   
  Parks and Recreation Director Debbie Horton said that this item was for 

the purchase of 5.62 acres in the Dells, from Granite Haven LLC, and 
then briefly reviewed graphically its location in relation to other open 
space properties in the Dell. She said that two of the acres were 
appraised at $450,000, to be sold for $440,000; 1.67 acres were 
appraised at $60,000, and 1.95 acres at $355,000, to be donated to the 
City of Prescott. She recapped that the value of the property was 
$865,000, but the cost to the City was only $500,000, with a $365,000 
donation. She said that the contract verbiage is still in draft form; however, 
the acreage and cost will not change. Mr. Kidd said that they have some 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 11 
 

minor issues in terms of the contract language, and staff is asking that the 
Council approve the contract with the knowledge that there will be minor 
word changes. 

   
  It was noted that there was a discrepancy in the staff memo; the total due 

from the City was $500,000 while the value was $865,000. 
   

  Councilman Lamerson reiterated that the monies they have available for 
the purchase they are doing are monies they have already obligated 
through previous Council actions into the funds designed for the purchase 
of open space. Mr. Kidd said that was correct. 

    
  Mr. Sel Lutey, 2206 Loma Rica Circle, said that he represents Granite 

Haven LLC and Herbert Bourdeax, and he confirms what has been said. 
    
  COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS MOVED TO APPROVE THE REAL ESTATE 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH GRANITE HAVEN, LLC, FOR 5.62 
ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY IN THE GRANITE DELLS, FOR OPEN 
SPACE PURPOSES, IN THE AMOUNT OF $500,000.00; SECONDED 
BY MAYOR WILSON; PASSED UANIMOUSLY. 

 
F. Approval of Real Estate Purchase Agreement with Benjamin C. Green, 

Successor Trustee of the Survivors Trust of Melvin A. Green and Bernice 
C. Green Revocable Living Trust, for 6.02 acres of real property in the 
Granite Dells, for open space purposes, in the amount of $361,000.00. 

   
  Ms. Horton said that this item was also purchase of property for open 

space purposes, from the Green Family. She said that if this is purchase, 
the Green family will be donating $60,000 back to the Arizona Community 
Foundation, which is a 501(c)3 to manage open space. She said that they 
will monitor the funds and approve/deny requests from Parks and 
Recreation. She said that she would like the family to know how grateful 
the City is for such a donation. 

    
  Capri Barney, broker for the Green Family, said that they approached the 

City months ago and the family is thrilled that the City wants the property. 
Mayor Wilson asked Ms. Barney to convey the City’s appreciation. He 
said that this family is setting the pace for future such donations. 

   
  Councilwoman Suttles asked if the Arizona Community Foundation would 

also be a holding account for other pieces of property the City may pick 
up. Councilwoman Lopas said that they could do two or three more for the 
City. Councilwoman Suttles suggested that the open space that has been 
purchased by the City be shown on the City’s web page for public’s 
information. 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 12 
 
    
  Ms. Horton said that she was visiting with IT today, and they have a 

narrative already, but IT is working on putting a map online to show where 
the open space is located. She said that they will emphasize the 
donations, and hopefully that trend will continue. 

    
  Councilman Lamerson also expressed his appreciation to the Green 

family. He asked Mr. Kidd to confirm that these funds, as with the prior 
item, had already been dedicated to the purchase of open space; Mr. Kidd 
said that was correct. 

    
  COUNCILMAN BELL MOVED TO APPROVE THE REAL ESTATE 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH BENJAMIN C. GREEN, SUCCESSOR 
TRUSTEE OF THE SURVIVORS TRUST OF MELVIN A. GREEN AND 
BERNICE C. GREEN REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, FOR 6.02 ACRES 
OF REAL PRPERTY IN THE GRANITE DELLS, FOR OPEN SPACE 
PURPOSES, IN THE AMOUNT OF $361,000.00; SECONDED BY 
COUNCILMAN LUZIUS; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
G.  Finalization of Harold James Family Trust Property: 

    
Mr. Kidd explained that this was the last step in the purchase of the 
James Property. He said that the City Charter requires that they accept 
and approve acceptance by ordinance. He said that they have already 
completed the sale successfully and will complete the remaining financial 
obligations next year. 
 
He said that the Finance Director had also reminded him that a resolution 
was required to transfer the funds within the City budget. 
 
1. Adoption of Ordinance No. 4674-0917 – An ordinance of the Mayor 

and Council of the City of Prescott, Yavapai County, Arizona, 
accepting title to real property known as the Harold James Family 
Trust Property located in the Granite Dells, and authorizing the 
Mayor and staff to execute any and all documents to effectuate 
said purchase. 

   
 COUNCILMAN LAMERSON MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 

NO. 4674-0917; SECONDED BY COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS; 
PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
2. Adoption of Resolution No. 3926-0932 – A resolution of the Mayor 

and Council of the City of Prescott, Yavapai County, Arizona, 
approving the transfer of unencumbered appropriations from the 
Capital Projects Fund to the 1% Streets and Open Space Fund. 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 13 
 

   
   COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 

NO. 3926-0932; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; 
PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
H. Adoption of Resolution No. 3923-0929 – A resolution of the Mayor and 

Council of the City of Prescott, Yavapai County, Arizona establishing the 
City of Prescott, Arizona Centennial Committee. 

   
 Administrative Services Director Mic Fenech said that this next item was a 

request for the Council to adopt a resolution to establish the Centennial 
Committee, although there was a change requested, to change the name 
to “Prescott: The Arizona Centennial City.”  

 
 Also, Mr. Fenech said that the membership on the Committee should be 

nine members instead of ten, as the Yavapai-Prescott Indian Tribe has 
declined to participate at this time. Ms. Burgess was asked if there was 
another entity that should be made a part of the Committee; she replied 
that was a possibility and perhaps they could address that in the future, 
but they were all happy with nine. 

 
 Mr. Fenech said that staff has contacted each of the representatives and 

professionals, and they have all agreed to be on the Committee. Funding 
needed for the Committee would come from the City of Prescott bed tax, 
as approved in the budget. 

    
 COUNCILMAN LUZIUS MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 3923-

0929; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN BELL; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
I. Approval to purchase communication equipment through a State of 

Arizona contract from Harris Stratex for $274,981.00 plus tax and shipping 
for the public safety communication project. 

    
 Emergency Services Director Darrell Willis said that six years ago they 

took on this project with a projected funding of $4.5 million. They have 
now taken it in-house with Paul Laipple overseeing it, and they are now at 
$2.5 million for funding. He said that they have completed Phase 1, 
design of the system and constructing the building, and they are now 
ready to go on Phase 2, to build out the microwave and voice system. 
They will now put the parts together, and they anticipate going on-line in 
January, with the voice part probably in December of 2009. He said that 
the current request is for the microwave system to connect the five sites. 

 
 He said that Harris Styratex is the State vendor, on state contract, and 

financially there is $1.8 million left in the budget. He said that they 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 14 
 

anticipate being able to complete the project with what is in the fund at 
this time. 

 
 Mayor Wilson asked if this would allow them to cover all the zones. 

Mr. Willis said that it would not completely; they are still working with the 
State Land Department for easements. 

    
 Councilman Lamerson asked why a governmental agency such as the 

State Land Department would want to stop this project. Mr. Willis said that 
he has asked the State Land Commissioners and the Governor’s Office 
the same question; it is all about money. He said that they have a process 
and they will charge the City for that easement. 

 
  Mr. Norwood said that the story is not the State Land easements, but the 

fact that the City started with a $4.5 million project and by staff getting 
involved, it is coming in at $2.5 million, doing it in-house without 
consultants. 

    
 COUNCILMAN LUZIUS MOVED TO PURCHASE COMMUNICATION 

EQUIPMENT THROUGH A STATE OF ARIZONA CONTRACT FROM 
HARRIS STRATEX FOR $274,981.00 PLUS TAX AND SHIPPING FOR 
THE PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATION PROJECT; SECONDED BY 
COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
J. Approval to purchase two wildland vehicles through State contract for a 

total of $109,307.96, tax included. 
   

 Mr. Willis said that they had approved through the fleet manager 
$115,000 to replace their oldest basic fire engine in the fleet. It was built in 
1983 and was used on wildland fires. He said that they also needed a 
superintendent’s upgrade. They were able to salvage the pump and tank 
off of the fire engine, and put that on a new cab/chassis. By not having to 
purchase that they were able to save a significant amount of money and 
with that other money, they would like to replace the superintendent truck. 
It exceeds the GVW and does not carry the type of equipment needed. He 
said that there was $115,000.00 budgeted, and they can do the 
purchases of the two vehicles at this point for $109,000 with the shop 
doing the retrofits, ending up not using $5,700.00. 

   
 Councilman Bell asked if they would be selling the one that was 

cannibalized. Mr. Willis said they would. 
    
 Mr. Norwood asked if the City was reimbursed when the wildland vehicles 

were used outside of the City. Mr. Willis replied that they were, and that 
money goes into that fund to pay for fuel and the wear and tear of the 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 15 
 

vehicle. Councilwoman Suttles asked if that account was by itself. 
Mr. Norwood replied that it is kept separate. 

    
 COUNCILMAN LUZIUS MOVED TO PURCHASE TWO WILDLAND 

VEHICLES THROUGH STATE CONTRACT FOR A TOTAL OF 
$109,307.96, TAX INCLUDED; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN 
LAMERSON; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
K. Approval of a grant application to Arizona Department of Transportation 

(ADOT), in partnership with Prescott Alternative Transportation, for 
funding of infrastructure improvements under the Safe Routes to School 
Program. 

    
  Traffic Engineer Ian Mattingly said that this request was for authorization 

for staff to submit two Safe Routes to School grant applications to ADOT 
in partnership with Prescott Alternative Transportation (PAT) for 
infrastructure improvements. Each grant will be for $250,000.00, to 
enhance bicycle access to and from four local schools. The City is 
required to be a party to the agreement since many of the improvements 
will be within their right-of-way. No matching funds are required by the 
City as the grant application is 100% funded. 

    
  Councilman Lamerson said that this was a good purpose to ask for some 

of the taxpayers’ money to come back here.  
 
  Mayor Wilson asked Mr. Katan if this was the same project that he had 

requested a letter of support for; Mr. Katan replied that it was. 
 
  Paul Katan, 844 Flores, said that he was the Safe Routes to School 

Coordinator for PAT and is organizing the application documentation. He 
thanked the Council for their recognition and support of the efforts. In this 
time of economic street he feels very fortunate to be able to identify and 
bring resources back to the City to improve public infrastructure, 
especially around the schools. 

   
 COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS MOVED TO APPROVE A GRANT 

APPLICATION TO THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPOR-
TATION (ADOT), IN PARTNERSHIP WITH PRESCOTT ALTERNATIVE 
TRANSPORTATION, FOR FUNDING OF INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS UNDER THE SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL 
PROGRAM; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN LUZIUS; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
L. Adoption of Resolution No. 3924-0930 – A resolution of the Mayor and 

Council of the City of Prescott, Yavapai County, Arizona, authorizing the 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 16 
 

City of Prescott to enter into an Amendment of the Development 
Agreement, Contract No. 2008-012, with CSW Prescott, L.L.C. and 
approving an assignment to Stratford Land Fund III – AZ Storm Ranch, 
LLC, and authorizing the Mayor and staff to take any and all steps 
necessary to accomplish the above. 

 
 Mr. Nietupski said that this item is an assignment of an amended 

development agreement for the Storm Ranch development. In June of 
2007 the City authorized the original development agreement with 
Community Southwest for that development. The buyer of the property 
has since opted to terminate that acquisition and Stratford Land Fund III 
LP has entered into a contract with the property owner, RHP 
Development, to purchase the property and commence with the project. 

 
 He said that what makes this a desirable agreement for the City is that 

Stratford will reimburse the City 50% of the cost of construction of the 
roundabout to be developed at the intersection of Prescott Lakes Parkway 
and the Sundog Connector. The Yavapai County IGA that the City entered 
into for acquisition of the rodeo grounds commits the City to the full 
obligation for that roundabout. Once the County awards a contract for the 
construction of that, this would help recover some of those costs. 

 
 The amended development agreement also makes provision for 50% cost 

sharing of the Sundog Connector roadway and some utility improvements 
that would be of regional benefits. It does give the City the opportunity to 
review the cost estimates in a given budget year and by July of that same 
year the City would indicate to the developer whether or not the City 
would be budgeting for its participation in the sharing of those 
improvements. Otherwise, the developer could proceed with his project 
and only install infrastructure necessary for his particular needs. This also 
includes the preliminary plat for the project and water service agreement 
that were approved in 2007. They are united under this amended 
development agreement for a ten-year term to expire July 10, 2017. 

   
 Councilman Luzius said that when the project was originally platted he 

thought it was determined that Sundog should be a full width road, up to 
four lanes, and asked why they would deviate from that. Mr. Nietupski 
said this is not a deviation from that strategy. The City will have the option 
to participate. The Sundog Connector is a regional road identified in the 
regional transportation plan and it is the City’s intent that it be developed. 
At this point in time with the economy the way it is, the question is how 
soon it would occur. 

    
 Councilman Luzius said that if in later years the road is constructed for the 

developer’s needs they would have to tear up the road to add new 
infrastructure and widen it. He asked why they would not want to do it all 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 17 
 

at the same time. Mr. Nietupski said that he would agree with that and if 
the City can do it at the time the developer moves forward, that would be 
staff’s recommendation. 

 
 Mayor Wilson said that he finds this to be an interesting enhancement to 

the prior development agreement. 
   
 COUNCILMAN LUZIUS MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 3924-

0930; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN BELL; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
M. Authorization to apply with the Department of Homeland Security 

Transportation Security Administration for a four-year Law Enforcement 
Officer Reimbursement Program Cooperative Agreement grant in the 
amount of $658,869.12. 

 
  Airport Manager Ben Vardiman said that the Transportation Safety 

Administration requires that they have a police officer at the airport, and 
this is approval for the City to apply for a four-year LEO grant to help 
offset those costs, through a reimbursement program. 

    
  Councilwoman Suttles asked if the officer would be one of the City’s. 

Mr. Vardiman explained that they do have to be TSA-qualified, but they 
allow the airport to provide that training. Councilwoman Suttles asked how 
many officers they would be talking about. Mr. Vardiman said that it would 
be one officer at a time, an hour before the flight until an hour after 
departure. They are anticipating about 84 hours a week. Mr. Norwood 
said that it would be about three police officers to cover those hours. 

 
  Councilwoman Suttles asked how that would affect the Police 

Department. Mr. Norwood explained that they would be three additional 
officers. If they chose to select three from within, they would be cutting 
services. That option may still have to be considered, but that is not being 
proposed at this time. The plan is to hire three additional officers. 

   
  Councilman Bell asked how many personnel TSA currently has assigned 

to the airport. Mr. Vardiman said there are seven part-time and maybe 
one or two fulltime. There are three to four people per flight. Councilman 
Bell asked if it was retroactive. Mr. Vardiman said that the program is 
retroactive. The City could submit, but they have not been submitting. 
They have occasionally been using police officers, as they are available. 
The City is currently operating under a temporary exception, but they 
believe that will be going away. 

 
  Councilman Bell asked if the City would be stuck with the cost if 

Homeland Security turned down the request. Mr. Vardiman replied that 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 18 
 

they would be. Mayor Wilson said that they did deny the application last 
year, so they are potentially looking at an unfunded mandate. 

 
  Councilwoman Suttles asked if the City did not have to add some 

firefighters for the airport as well. Mr. Norwood said that the City added 
three additional firefighters to allow for a firefighter at the airport 24/7. 
Previously they only had them there with the commercial flight. 

 
  Councilwoman Suttles said that these are mandates that the City of 

Prescott takes care of. Mr. Norwood said if they do not follow the 
regulations, they will take the City off the grant list or make the City repay 
past grants. 

 
    Councilman Luzius said that this strengthens the project of having a 

regional airport so everyone could contribute. 
 
     COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS MOVED TO APPLY WITH THE 

DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY TRANSPORTATION 
SECURITY ADMINISTRATION FOR A FOUR-YEAR LAW 
ENFORCEMENT OFFICER REIMBURESEMENT PROGRAM 
COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$658,869.12; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
 N. Resolution No. 3927-0933 – A resolution of the Mayor and Council of the 

City of Prescott, Yavapai County, Arizona, repealing Resolution Numbers 
1606, 1851, 1877, 1890, 2033, 2074, 2294, 2296, 2439, 2456, 3032, 
3047,and 3401, and adopting new Rules of Procedure for the Prescott 
City Council. 

   
  Mayor Wilson said that based on his attendance at the League of Arizona 

Cities and Towns where the City Clerk for the City of Phoenix went 
through a lot of their procedures and had a booklet which included all of 
the Council procedures, he brought the booklet back and asked the City 
Clerk to prepare something similar. It was agreed that the City’s 
procedures needed to be updated to reflect what was being followed since 
they had not been updated for some time. 

 
  Ms. Burke added that she had also presented an amended resolution to 

the Council before the meeting to include an additional resolution that 
needed to be repealed. 

   
  Councilman Luzius said that he has read this over and it seems to be a 

duplication of the procedures instituted by Mayor Daly, with some 
modifications, and he had no problem with it. He said that he did want to 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 19 
 

make sure that they will still allow citizens to speak on an issue if it is 
taken off of the consent agenda. Mayor Wilson said that they would still 
have that opportunity. 

   
  Ed Parry, 2289 Park Avenue, said that he read the proposal and from a 

citizen’s standpoint one thing that concerned him was the ability to speak 
on an issue once every six months. He was concerned that someone may 
have additional information to submit later and he would hope exceptions 
would be permitted. 

 
  Mayor Wilson said that the purpose of that is so that they do not have 

someone requesting to be on the agenda every month to speak on the 
same issue. Mr. Parry said that he understood why they have it; he would 
hope that they could make exceptions. Mayor Wilson said that there 
would be two safety valves; one is the Chairman could suspend the rules 
and the other is the Council could override the Chairman. 

    
  COUNCILWOMAN SUTTLES MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 

3927-0933; SECONDED BY COUNCILWOMAN LOPAS; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
III.  ADJOURNMENT 
    
 There being no further business to be discussed, the Combined Study 

Session/Regular Voting Meeting of December 16, 2008 adjourned at 5:04 p.m. 
 
  
      ____________________________________ 
      JACK D. WILSON, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
ELIZABETH A. BURKE, City Clerk 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Prescott, Arizona held on the 16th 
day of December, 2008.  I further certify the meeting was duly called and held and that 
a quorum was present. 
 
Dated this ____ day of ___________________, 2008. 
 
 AFFIX 



Prescott City Council Combined Study Session/ 
Regular Voting Meeting – December 16, 2008                                                   Page 20 
 
       CITY SEAL  
      _____________________________________  
      ELIZABETH A. BURKE, City Clerk 


